
LIQUOR AND BEER MEETING 
LOCAL LICENSING AUTHORITY 

CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION, COLORADO 
MUNICIPAL HEARING ROOM, CITY HALL, 250 NORTH 5TH STREET 

 
SPECIAL HEARING MINUTES 

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2014, 8:00 A.M.  

 
 

HEARING OFFICER MICHAEL GRATTAN 

   
 
I. CALL TO ORDER  
 

The Hearing was called to order at 8:01 a.m. Those present were Hearing Officer Mike 
Grattan, City Attorney John Shaver, and Deputy City Clerk Debbie Kemp. 
 

II. SHOW CAUSE HEARING/REVIEW AND AUTHORIZE STIPULATION, 
AGREEMENT AND ORDER 

 
1. MZ Entertainment, LLC dba Thunderstruck Valley, 436 Main Street, Grand 

Junction, CO 81501, Temporary Tavern License  
 

1) It is alleged that on July 26, 2014 on or about 1:09 a. m., the Licensee, 
by and through its local owner/manager, Mark Towner, permitted the 
removal of alcohol (specifically a Whiskey and Coke mixed drink) from 
the licensed premises by customer Jesse Youngs (DOB 04/06/1991).  
The Licensee has a temporary tavern license which only allows 
consumption of alcohol on the licensed premises.  Mr. Youngs was 
contacted walking in the area near 609 Main Street which is outside the 
licensed premises. 

 
2) It is alleged that on August 10, 2014 about 1:05 a.m. the Licensee, by 

and through its local agent Gabriel Cohen, knowingly engaged in an act 
of disorderly conduct (fights with another in a public place).  Mr. Cohen 
was observed by witnesses punching, kicking, and kneeing Trevor 
Thompson, a customer of the establishment and such witnesses 
reported to the Grand Junction Police Department that the conduct was 
offensive and unnecessary. 

 
3) Alleged Violations Concerning the Ownership of Thunderstruck 

 
4) Conversion of Thunderstruck’s Temporary License into a Permanent   

License 
 

Stating their appearance were DeLayne Merritt, City Staff Attorney, and Tom 
Volkmann, Counsel on behalf of MZ Entertainment, the Licensee. 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

2 
 

Hearing Officer Grattan read Regulation 47-600 (C) from the Colorado Liquor 
Rules which addressed the procedure in which the hearing should be 
conducted. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked if items 3 and 4 from the agenda could be addressed prior 
to items 1 and 2.  Hearing Officer Grattan agreed that would be fine.  Staff 
Attorney Merritt also concurred. 
 
Mr. Volkmann provided a document signed by Mr. Towner confirming the 
ownership of MX Entertainment, LLC is 50% owned by Mark Towner and 50% 
owned by Zhanna S. Shearwood.  Ms. Merritt advised that she is comfortable 
with the document which showed there was no change of ownership throughout 
the duration of the license.  City Attorney Shaver asked Ms. Kemp if she has 
other records that would be inconsistent with the information provided on the 
document.  Ms. Kemp said the document is consistent with the records that are 
on file.  Hearing Officer Grattan entered the document into the record as Exhibit 
A (attached) and accepted the document as a true statement of the ownership 
which is compliant with application on file. 
 
Mr. Volkmann stated that the ownership status was the outstanding item 
preventing the issuance of the permanent liquor license and asked that the 
permanent liquor license be issued.  Ms. Merritt advised that the City is not 
objecting to or contesting the issuance of the permanent liquor license.  Hearing 
Officer Grattan said he is not against the issuance but will make the 
determination later. 
 
Ms. Merritt advised that the City is not intending to prosecute the July 26, 2014 
leaving the premises with an open container violation.  Mr. Volkmann asked for 
that item to be dismissed.  Hearing Officer Grattan dismissed the July 26th 
charge. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan read the alleged violation from the agenda on August 
10, 2014 and asked Ms. Merritt if that is the only remaining item.  Ms. Merritt 
confirmed it is the only item and advised that she issued subpoenas for that 
matter and asked that Meghan Woodland, Grand Junction Police Service 
Technician be released from the subpoena, asked that Grand Junction Police 
Officer David Keech be designated as her advisory witness, and also requested 
that witnesses be sequestered.  Mr. Volkmann had no objection to the requests.  
Hearing Office Grattan released Ms. Woodland from the subpoena, approved 
Officer Keech as Ms. Merritt’s advisory witness, and approved the witnesses 
being sequestered. 
 
All members of the audience who would be testifying were asked to leave the 
room. 
 
Ms. Merritt gave her opening statement stating that testimony will be provided 
by four lay witnesses (independent citizens) regarding the acts that happened 
on August 10th at the business Thunderstruck Valley.  The information will prove 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

3 
 

that Mr. Cohen's behavior was unacceptable, not decent, orderly, or 
respectable, and it was offensive to average citizens. 
 
Mr. Volkmann stated that the evidence will be seen quite differently.  Mr. Cohen 
will testify that he was not the aggressor.  Mr. Cohen works for Strategic 
Alliance, a third party security company that the licensee has engaged.  
Originally they only provided security for the exterior of the business, but then 
also started providing security for interior and exterior of the business.  The 
evidence will show that Mr. Cohen was in a self-defense situation.  The 
evidence will not support that the licensee knowingly permitted the disorderly 
conduct. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her first witness, Trevor Thompson, 1245 Holm Avenue, Silt, 
CO 81652, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Mr. Thompson testified that he arrived at Thunderstruck Valley with a group of 
three or four friends, male and female (he provided names), on August 10, 2014 
around 9:30 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. and he left the establishment around 11:30 p.m. 
to 12:00 a.m.  While he was there, he talked to the General Manager (who he 
did not see in the room during his testimony) of Thunderstruck Valley and also 
to the security working that evening to find out why his friend (Keaton) was 
kicked out of the establishment just because he was dancing with a girl over by 
the bar.  When he asked the security, the security jumped off of the stage and 
got within a couple of feet of Mr. Thompson’s face.  When Mr. Thompson put 
his hands up with palms out, the security officer (Gabriel) turned him around 
and put him in handcuffs.  After being handcuffed, he was face down on his 
belly on the stage and was asking the security to be cool but more than one 
security personnel kept striking Mr. Thompson in the face, side of the head, and 
his torso.  He was bleeding from the mouth, had bruises up and down the arms, 
scratches on the face, and a black eye.  Mr. Thompson never touched Gabriel, 
he remained still and asked Gabriel to please stop.  Mr. Thompson had a 
couple of beers while he was at Thunderstruck Valley.  It was the security 
officers and no one else that caused all of the injuries.  While waiting for the 
ambulance to show up, he told law enforcement everything that had happened.  
Mr. Thompson went back to Thunderstruck Valley the next day to get back his 
watch that was taken off when he was handcuffed and earrings that were ripped 
out during the process.  When Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Thompson if he felt his 
conversation with Mr. Gabriel Cohen was handled appropriately, Mr. Thompson 
said no.  Mr. Thompson testified that there were tables close to where he was 
pushed down on the stage, but did not recall if there were any people at those 
tables.  Mr. Thompson said that he had never been to Thunderstruck Valley 
before.  The music was not loud and he did not have to yell when he spoke to 
Mr. Cohen. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson where he and his friends were prior to 
going to Thunderstruck Valley and had they been drinking.  Mr. Thompson 
stated they were at his house and had not been drinking prior to going to 
Thunderstruck Valley.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson who he spoke with 
when he went back the next day and did he get back his watch and earrings.  



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

4 
 

Mr. Thompson said he did not know who he spoke with and he did not get his 
watch and earrings back.  Mr. Volkmann asked if he believes that his stud 
earrings came out during the physical interaction with Mr. Cohen.  Mr. 
Thompson said yes.  Mr. Thompson testified that at no time did Mr. Cohen ask 
him to leave Thunderstruck Valley, Mr. Cohen just physically took him out.  Mr. 
Thompson said he remembers Mr. Cohen using profanity but couldn’t 
remember if it was used to tell him to leave or to get out of his face.  Mr. 
Volkmann asked about Mr. Thompson’s friend that was near him during the 
time of the altercation.  Mr. Thompson stated that a lady moved him out of the 
way and he wasn’t sure where he went.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson if 
it is his testimony that he asked Mr. Cohen once about his friend Keaton and 
that Mr. Cohen threw him on the stage.  Mr. Thompson said yes.  Mr. Volkmann 
asked Mr. Thompson if it was true that as the EMT’s were preparing to leave, 
he told Officer Keech that he wanted an ambulance to come and get him 
because he wanted to get Mr. Cohen in as much trouble as possible.  Mr. 
Thompson said no, it was because he was bleeding from his face.  Mr. 
Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson if he is a larger man than Mr. Cohen.  Mr. 
Thompson said Mr. Cohen is pretty stocky.  Mr. Volkmann advised that the 
police report indicated that Mr. Thompson is a couple of inches taller than Mr. 
Cohen.  Mr. Thompson said he is six foot and weighs 200 pounds. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Thompson if he had earrings in both ears.  Mr. Thompson 
said yes.  He showed a pair of earrings that he had in his pocket that were very 
similar to the ones that were ripped out.  He stated they are not real easy to 
take out but he had no injuries to his ears from them being ripped out.  Ms. 
Merritt asked Mr. Thompson if his friend Keaton was kicked out by security or 
by management.  Mr. Thompson said he was asked to leave by the general 
manager and there were no security officers near Keaton.  Ms. Merritt asked 
Mr. Thompson if he has any special training which makes him stronger.  Mr. 
Thompson said he has not.  Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Thompson would have 
been clear to understand Mr. Cohen asking him to leave, would he have left.  
Mr. Thompson said he would have because he didn’t want any problems with 
Mr. Cohen. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson if Mr. Cohen had told him to get out.  Mr. 
Thompson said he was not told to get out.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson 
if it was his testimony that Mr. Cohen looked scary.  Mr. Thompson replied 
affirmatively.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Thompson if he went across the room to 
approach Mr. Cohen.  Mr. Thompson confirmed that to be true. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked that Mr. Cohen be brought into the room so that 
he could make a record of the size of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Cohen side-by-
side.  Hearing Officer Grattan found that Mr. Thompson is a little taller and Mr. 
Cohen is a little burlier.  He noted that size wise, they are comparable.  Mr. 
Cohen was asked to leave the Hearing Room again.  Hearing Officer Grattan 
asked Mr. Thompson if the encounter with Mr. Cohen took place on the street 
level of the establishment.  Mr. Thompson said yes.  Hearing Officer Grattan 
asked Mr. Thompson if he asked the manager for clarification as to why his 
friend was asked to leave, and if so, what did the manager say.  Mr. Thompson 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

5 
 

said that he was told by the manager that his friend appeared to be too 
intoxicated and was dancing too close to the bar and looked too sloppy.  
Hearing Officer Grattan asked if Mr. Cohen had any role in asking Mr. Deere 
(Keaton) to leave.  Mr. Thompson said no.  Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. 
Thompson to describe the facility and how far the bar is from the stage and to 
describe where the altercation took place and asked Mr. Thompson’s questions 
about the altercation to have a clear picture of each step of the altercation.  
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Thompson if he is sure that he was not hit 
before he was handcuffed.  Mr. Thompson said that he does not remember 
being hit before he was handcuffed. 
 
Ms. Merritt requested that Mr. Thompson not be released from his subpoena 
until the conclusion of the hearing.  Hearing Officer Grattan agreed. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan reviewed the subpoena’s that were issued by Ms. 
Merritt. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Guillermo Padilla, 276 S. Elm Street, Fruita, 
CO 81521, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Mr. Padilla testified that he, his wife, his brother, his brother’s girlfriend, and 
another friend went to Thunderstruck Valley after dinner on August 10, 2014 
around 9:00 p.m. or 10:00 p.m.  He was not drinking that evening because he 
was the designated driver.  They were in the establishment about one hour or 
so before they witnessed a verbal altercation.  They were at a table close to the 
bar and approximately five feet from the stage and Mr. Padilla was seated 
facing the stage.  There was one security person (identified as security by the 
shirt he was wearing) leaning up against the wall by the stage.  Mr. Padilla was 
not sure if there were any stairs as it was his first visit to Thunderstruck Valley 
and he was not familiar with the layout of the facility.  Mr. Padilla described what 
he witnessed as two gentlemen (customer and bouncer/security) getting into an 
argument.  He was unsure what the argument was about or how it got started.  
They both were raising their voices and about a foot from being face to face.  
He remembers hearing the bouncer repeatedly saying to the customer to be 
quiet and eventually witnessed the bouncer hit the customer in the face with a 
closed right fist.  Mr. Padilla did not observe the customer striking the bouncer 
prior to the bouncer striking the customer.  Mr. Padilla found it very surprising 
that the bouncer would strike the customer because a bouncer should be more 
professional especially since they have to deal with intoxicated people all the 
time.  Mr. Padilla did not recall seeing the customer raise his hands in any 
fashion.  Mr. Padilla said that after the customer was struck, he fell onto the 
stage and another bouncer came and jumped on the customer while the first 
bouncer tried to put handcuffs on him, all the while kicking him and kneeing him 
in the face.  The customer was trying to wiggle and move but wasn’t able to 
because the bouncer had his hands behind his back.  The stage is 
approximately two feet high and the customer’s body was mostly lying across 
the stage where he fell after being punched and pushed.  His friend was 
standing by at first and all three people were arguing but then the friend left 
prior to the customer being hit.  Mr. Padilla observed the bouncers walking the 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

6 
 

customer outside to the officers after he was handcuffed.  Mr. Padilla and his 
party remained at Thunderstruck Valley only about 10 more minutes after that 
because they were offended by what they had witnessed, they felt that the 
bouncer should have had more control.  Mr. Padilla said that he spoke to two 
law enforcement officers for approximately 10 to 15 minutes before leaving 
because he wanted to express that the actions of the bouncer were uncalled 
for.  Mr. Padilla advised that he had a clear view of the incident.  There was a 
table to the left of him with no one sitting there and his wife was on his right 
hand side of him also facing the stage area.    
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Padilla how far he was sitting from the security and 
from the bar.  Mr. Padilla advised five feet or so for both, the security being in 
front of him and the bar being directly behind him. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Ms. Kemp if she has a schematic of the 
establishment.  Ms. Kemp provided him with one.  
 
Hearing Officer Grattan called for a five minute break to get extra copies of the 
schematic made. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan reviewed the two page schematic and entered them in 
as Exhibit B (attached) and asked for an explanation.  Mr. Volkmann advised 
that it is an accurate layout of the establishment.  The first page is the first floor 
and the second page is the second floor.  Hearing Officer Grattan said it 
appears that there are two stages.  Mark Towner explained that there is only 
one stage, the other area is raised seating. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Padilla to draw on Exhibit B a circle with a number one 
in it indicating where he was sitting on August 10th and to place a circle with a 
number two indicating where the two persons that were arguing were located.  
Mr. Padilla did so.  Mr. Padilla testified that there was music playing, he did not 
recall seeing the customer approach the security person but he did hear the two 
persons arguing but could not hear every word.  The incident occurred 
approximately 11:00 p.m. and lasted altogether approximately three minutes.  
Mr. Padilla was unaware if the customer had spoken to any other member of 
the staff prior to the security person.  He did notice another person (assuming it 
was a friend) with the customer at first.  He stated that he did observe both the 
customer and the security person he saw in the argument on August 10th 
outside the courtroom.  He had not heard the security person tell the customer 
to leave the premises.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Padilla if he had ever been a 
bouncer.  Mr. Padilla said no.  Mr. Padilla has been in bars when fights broke 
out a couple of times.  He has not been back to Thunderstruck Valley since 
August 10th. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Padilla if the three minutes he mentioned earlier for the 
incidents was for the argument as well as the physical altercation.  Mr. Padilla 
said probably about five minutes for both.  Ms. Merritt asked where the 
conversation and physical interaction happen.  Mr. Padilla marked the area in 
question with a number three.  Mr. Padilla said the customer was lying face 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

7 
 

down on the stage and the kicks were being made towards his head which is 
what made Mr. Padilla very upset.  Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Padilla observed the 
customer to have any blood or bruising to his face when the customer was 
leaving the room.  Mr. Padilla said yes, he remembers blood running down his 
face.  Mr. Padilla advised that the customer did not have any injuries before he 
was struck by security.  Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Padilla if the fights he has seen 
prior to this one included security and has he seen security using strikes or 
blows to patrons before.  Mr. Padilla said no.  Ms. Merritt asked if the second 
security officer delivered any strikes or blows to the patron or asked the first 
security officer to move away.  Mr. Padilla said no but the second security guard 
gave the first one a look as if to say “what are you doing”?  It was both the 
security officers that removed the customer and Mr. Padilla did not notice any 
managers.  The second security guard was a black gentleman with facial hair.  
Mr. Padilla said that the first security person was frustrated with the customer 
and did get more boisterous than the customer. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Padilla where the security guards were at.  Mr. Padilla 
said they were on the stage.  Mr. Volkmann asked how long it took to get the 
handcuffs on the customer.  Mr. Padilla said a minute or so.  Mr. Volkmann 
asked if the customer was struck or pushed before the handcuffs were put on 
him or after and when did the friend leave the area.  Mr. Padilla said the 
customer was punched/pushed before the handcuffs and then the customer fell 
back onto the stage and the friend left the area prior to the punch.    
 
Ms. Merritt asked where the first punch/push made contact with the customer 
and was it with a closed fist.  Mr. Padilla said to his face, it was a closed fist and 
the punch/push occurred all in one motion and as he was falling he twisted 
around and ended up face down on the stage.  Ms. Merritt asked if the 
customer was wiggling to get away from the cuffs or the blows.  Mr. Padilla said 
both. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked if either of the security guards were wearing gloves.  Mr. 
Padilla said he didn’t recall. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Padilla to explain the five minutes of the 
altercation.  Mr. Padilla said the argument lasted about three minutes, and the 
bouncer hitting the customer and the customer falling on the stage and the 
handcuffing took approximately another two minutes.  Hearing Officer Grattan 
asked what time the incident occurred.  Mr. Padilla said he thinks it was around 
11:00 p.m. but it could have been closer to 1:00 a.m.  Hearing Officer Grattan 
asked for clarification on how the customer and the bouncer ended up on the 
stage.  Mr. Padilla said after the punch/push, they both went down onto the 
stage and then the bouncer got back up and kicked the customer. 
 
Ms. Merritt also asked that Mr. Padilla not be released from his subpoena.  
Hearing Officer Grattan agreed. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Margaret Padilla, 276 S. Elm Street, Fruita, 
CO 81521, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

8 
 

 
Ms. Merritt asked Ms. Padilla how long she and her husband have been in a 
relationship.  Ms. Padilla said that they will have been married for 10 years next 
June, together for 12 years.  Ms. Padilla testified that they arrived at 
Thunderstruck Valley on August 10th sometime between 9:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m.  
They sat at an empty table near the back bar by the stage.  Ms. Padilla marked 
the table with a number one on Exhibit C (see attached).  Ms. Padilla said she 
was facing the stage and her husband was on her left.  Ms. Padilla said she did 
not have any drinks at Thunderstruck Valley.  She was unaware of the 
conversation between a customer and the security until other security officers 
rushed to the stage and then she saw the security guard (Caucasian 
gentleman) punch the customer in the face and the customer was dropped to 
the ground, (she was unsure if the customer was pushed or fell from the punch) 
was kicked and kneed several times, and then was escorted out of the building.  
She and her party left about ten to fifteen minutes after that.  She did not see 
the customer being argumentative, throwing punches, or being disruptive.  She 
did see him cover his face after the punch was thrown.  While the one security 
guard was kicking and kneeing the customer, two other security guards were 
trying to contain (hold him still) the customer.  The customer was on the stage, 
approximately 1 ½ to 2 feet tall, and the security guard was half on and half off 
of the stage.  She believes the customer fell to the stage on his side but she 
wasn’t sure because her friend and her got up at that time and were ready to 
leave because when you reach a certain age in life, there is an environment 
one chooses to be in without drama or excessive language, and they found that 
was not the environment they wanted to be in.  She was offended by the 
security guards behavior.  She thought at first it was a nice place, but once the 
gentleman was punched in the face, she realized it is not a place she wants to 
be involved with.  Ms. Padilla did observe the customer was bleeding from the 
nose when he was walked out of the building but didn’t notice any other injuries.  
Ms. Padilla wasn’t sure what time they left Thunderstruck Valley but thinks that 
they were there for a couple of hours.  When they left the building, Ms. Padilla’s 
husband went to the left to talk to a law enforcement officer and she and the 
lady with her walked to the right because that is where they were parked.  Ms. 
Padilla did speak to law enforcement officers that were near where they parked 
because she felt it was her duty to advise them that she felt that the security 
guard was a bit excessive in his actions.  Ms. Padilla said the whole incident 
happened in maybe five or ten minutes.  She did not see a manager near the 
security guards.  Ms. Padilla said it was the first time she had ever been to 
Thunderstruck Valley.  Ms. Padilla said that it did not appear that the security 
guard was aiming at anyone except the customer and it did not appear 
accidental. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Ms. Padilla to circle the table on Exhibit C and place an “a” 
where she was sitting and a “b” where her husband was sitting.  Ms. Padilla did 
as requested.  Ms. Padilla testified that they arrived Thunderstruck Valley 
between 9:00 p.m. and 10:30 p.m. and they may have been there three or four 
hours because, at first, they were having a really good time.  During the time 
they were there, she had not seen anyone being kicked out of the 
establishment prior to the incident between the customer and the security 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

9 
 

guard.  Ms. Padilla had not seen the security guard prior to seeing him punch 
the customer.  The security guards were identifiable because they all had on 
the same shirt with dark colored pants.  Ms. Padilla said that the security guards 
she noticed rushing to the stage came from the right hand side in the direction 
of the front door.  Ms. Padilla said that there was a table with no one sitting at it 
between their table and the altercation and estimated that the altercation took 
place seven to ten feet in front of them.  She said that she did not see anyone 
(friends) with the customer when she saw the customer.  Ms. Padilla said that 
they left the establishment prior to last call and there were some other people, 
unsure how many, that left at the same time they did. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Ms. Padilla if she was having conversation with her friends 
when the altercation happened.  Ms. Padilla said she was turned to the right 
talking to her friend when the altercation started.  Ms. Padilla said that she 
found the actions of the security guard offensive and that is why she and her 
friends (group of five) chose to leave as a group.  Ms. Padilla said she did not 
recall that the security officer had any injuries or was wearing gloves. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Ms. Padilla if she had any knowledge from her experience 
what prompted the security personnel to rush to the stage that evening.  Ms. 
Padilla said no. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked if Ms. Padilla had noticed the security guard prior 
to the rushing.  Ms. Padilla said that she only saw one security checking 
identification prior to the rushing.  Hearing Officer Grattan asked Ms. Padilla to 
put a number three on the diagram indicating where the altercation took place, 
an arrow indicating the direction of the rushing.  Hearing Officer Grattan also 
asked for clarification of how many security guards she saw as part of the 
altercation.  Ms. Padilla said it was two or three.  
   
Ms. Merritt also asked that Ms. Padilla not be released from her subpoena.  
Hearing Officer Grattan agreed. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Britt Kunz, 618 Monarch Way, Grand 
Junction, CO 81504, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Kunz if he went to Thunderstruck Valley on the evening of 
August 10th.  Mr. Kunz testified that he did, he went there after work around 
midnight from Naggy McGees with two (one male and one female) of his co-
workers.  He said that he was a server and had worked for Naggy McGees for 
two years  When they got to Thunderstruck Valley, they went to the back bar by 
the kitchen.  Mr. Kunz was handed a diagram marked as Exhibit D (attached) 
and was asked to place a number one where he and his co-workers were 
standing by the back bar.  Mr. Kunz was going to have a drink but while waiting, 
he saw the fight and decided he would not have a drink.  He does not like fights 
in bars.  He had not had anything to drink that evening.  He explained that when 
he first got to the back bar, he noticed a security officer and two customers 
talking and at first, it seemed pretty friendly, but after about six minutes, he 
heard raised voices and saw the security officer shove the first customer.  The 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

10 
 

security officer started screaming at a second customer who then left.  The 
security officer walked back over to the first customer and raised his hand as if 
he was going to hit the customer.  The customer cowered and leaned back on 
the stage and sat there with his hands up before getting up in a defensive 
manner.  The security guard started hitting the customer with a closed fist to his 
head and chest probably two or three times and the customer fell back.  The 
security officer then ran up on the stage and grabbed the customer by the head 
and tried to knee him in the front side of his face probably two or three times 
and then another security officer got there and held the customer down.  Mr. 
Kunz was asked to place a number three on the diagram where the verbal 
altercation took place.  He said that when the second security officer got to the 
altercation, he got on the customer and held him down until they were able to 
retain the customer and then they walked him out.  Mr. Kunz said he was 
approximately 15 to 20 feet from the fight and there were two tall tables 
between them with people sitting at them but Mr. Kunz was still able to see 
what was going on.  He did not see the customer show any aggression towards 
the security officer.  Mr. Kunz demonstrated a motion with his hands indicating 
how the security officer shoved the customer away.  Mr. Kunz described the 
security officer who was doing the striking as 5’8” to 5’9” tall, shaved head, neck 
tattoo, and a blue polo tee-shirt with a company name on it.  He was sitting 
outside the courtroom during at that time.  He had seen him before at 
Thunderstruck Valley.  During the altercation, Mr. Kunz had not heard the 
security officer ask the customer to leave the establishment.  After the 
altercation, Mr. Kunz went outside just to see what was going on but he didn’t 
speak to anyone.  He then went back inside to say goodbye to his friends and 
then left the establishment after last call, around 1:30 a.m.  He found the 
behavior of the security offensive because it was overly violent and 
unnecessary.  Mr. Kunz said he noticed the customer was bleeding from the 
mouth and it looked like around his eyes were getting dark like a bruise when 
he was escorted out of the establishment and he had observed that he was not 
bleeding before the altercation.  Mr. Kunz said that it appeared that when the 
second security guard approached, he was going to stop the violent security 
guard.  Mr. Kunz did not see any management around while he was there.  
When asked if Mr. Kunz had ill feelings towards the establishment that would 
affect his testimony, Mr. Kunz said no, he has always liked Thunderstruck 
Valley, he has friends that work there, and he and his dad have played music 
there. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Kunz how far he was standing away from the security 
and the customer when the conversation took place.  Mr. Kunz said 15 to 20 
feet and he could see it clearly.  The security guard was standing with his back 
to the wall and he and the customers were already talking when he got there.  
He did not know the customers.  The customer’s friend left the altercation about 
10 seconds before the fight.  Mr. Kunz testified that he thought the security 
guard yelled to the customer’s friend to “get the f away” and the friend just 
absorbed back into the crowd.  Mr. Kunz repeated what he saw during the 
altercation for Mr. Volkmann.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Kunz if he saw what 
happened to make the security guard start screaming at the customers.  Mr. 
Kunz said no, he was visiting with his friends.  Mr. Kunz said that when the 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

11 
 

security guard was done punching the customer, the customer was basically 
laying back on the stage and the security guard went up the stairs and grabbed 
the customer by the head and tried to knee him.  The other security guard was 
just getting to the altercation about that same time.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. 
Kunz the names of the clubs that he was a door guy at and during those times 
had he seen fights at those clubs.  Mr. Kunz replied that he was a door guy at 
Mesa Theater, Naggy McGee’s, and Barons, and he had seen fights at those 
clubs.  Mr. Volkmann asked if Mr. Kunz has been back to Thunderstruck Valley 
since August 10th and asked if he had seen any events like what happened on 
August 10th.  Mr. Kunz said he had been back to Thunderstruck Valley about 
three times and had not seen any other events.  He observed different security 
guards working.  Mr. Kunz stated that prior to August 10th he had seen 
customers escorted out a couple of times but it was not overly violent. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Kunz if the fights he had witnessed prior to August 10th 
were customer vs. customer or security vs. customer.  Mr. Kunz replied they 
were usually customer vs. customer and said that it is very rare for bouncers to 
get into fist fights with people.  Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Kunz actually saw the 
security guard kneeing the customer rather than just trying to.  Mr. Kunz said it 
was hard to tell but it did look painful.  Ms. Merritt asked what the time frame 
was from when Mr. Kunz heard the laughing to when he heard the screaming.  
Mr. Kunz said about one minute.  Ms. Merritt asked if the security officer that 
was doing the striking appeared to have any injuries.  Mr. Kunz said no.  Mr. 
Kunz said he found it odd that the security guard was wearing gloves that were 
made for punching because they have padding on them to protect knuckles.  
Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Kunz noticed the customer come back inside the 
establishment.  Ms. Kunz said no, the customer did not go back inside once he 
was escorted out.  Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Kunz if he saw the security guard 
again when he’s been back into Thunderstruck Valley.  Mr. Kunz said yes, at 
Halloween, but he kept his distance from him because he does not like violent 
people. 

 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Kunz if he feels differently if the customer touches the 
security guard first.  Mr. Kunz said the security guard has to use a more 
aggressive way to remove the customer from the bar.  Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. 
Kunz if he has had any self-defense training.  Mr. Kunz said no, he has not.  Mr. 
Volkmann asked Mr. Kunz if he or anyone else had any incidents with that 
security guard on Halloween.  Mr. Kunz said no. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Kunz if he felt that had the customer struck the security 
guard first, would that have warranted the security guards actions.  Mr. Kunz 
said no.  Ms. Merritt asked if the customer was a physical threat while he was 
laying on the stage with his hands up.  Mr. Kunz said no.  
 
Ms. Merritt also asked that Mr. Kunz not be released from her subpoena.  
Hearing Officer Grattan agreed but also asked Ms. Merritt to consider releasing 
the witnesses that have already testified as soon as she feels she can. 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

12 
 

After a short break, Ms. Merritt advised that she and Mr. Volkmann agreed that 
the four witnesses, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Padilla, Ms. Padilla, and Mr. Kunz can 
be released from their subpoenas.  Hearing Officer Grattan agreed. 
 
Hearing Officer called for a lunch recess at 11:40 a.m. 
 
The Hearing reconvened at 12:54 p.m. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan advised that while he was out for lunch, he went over to 
Thunderstruck Valley and took notice of the approximate measurements which 
included the stage that is 25 inches high, the distance to the back bar, 
depending on where at the back bar from the staircase, is between 13 feet and 
22 feet, and the distance to the elevated seating area is 26 feet.  He also noted 
that he had no interaction with the owner of Thunderstruck Valley other than 
getting a tape measure from him and being shown around by him. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Cory Russell Hatcher, 258 28 Road, Grand 
Junction, CO 81503, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Hatcher if he was employed at Thunderstruck Valley on 
August 10, 2014 and asked him what his job was.  Mr. Hatcher said he was 
employed at Thunderstruck Valley and his job was to observe patrons to make 
sure they did not get too drunk, or cause any problems.  Ms. Merritt asked if he 
was a security officer and was the security under a different business name.  
Mr. Hatcher said yes he was a security officer and the business name was 
Strategic Alliance Security.  Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Hatcher had any training 
and if so, who provided the training.  Mr. Hatcher said he did have training that 
was provided by Strategic Alliance Security which included workbook training 
and teacher-to-person training.  Ms. Merritt asked if Mr. Hatcher had a primary 
assignment the night of August 10th.  Mr. Hatcher said no, he was floating 
throughout the business.  Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Hatcher if, on that night, he saw 
Gabriel Cohen engaged in a verbal altercation.  Mr. Hatcher said yes.  Mr. 
Hatcher was handed a diagram marked Exhibit E (attached) and was asked to 
place a number one where he observed the verbal altercation and a number 
three where he was standing.  Mr. Hatcher testified that while floating around 
the floor, keeping an eye on everyone, he noticed one of their security officers 
in an altercation with three customers.  One of those customers was asked to 
leave and did and that left the security officer and two patrons.  The patron that 
was eventually handcuffed got real close to the security officer’s (Gabriel) face.  
Mr. Hatcher heard Gabriel repeatedly telling the patron to be quiet.  They got 
closer and closer until Gabriel’s hands went up.  The patron pushed Gabriel in a 
striking fashion and his hands went on Gabriel’s neck.  Gabriel pushed the 
patron back with open hands.  Mr. Hatcher then went to the altercation to assist 
and Gabriel was struggling with the patron and trying to get handcuffs on him.  
The patron was on his stomach kicking and trying to get Gabriel off of him.  Mr. 
Hatcher said he observed Gabriel having red marks on his neck and face, but 
he never noticed Gabriel striking customer in the face or kneeing him in the 
head or kicking him.  Gabriel did put his knee to shoulder just to keep the 
customer down to get him under control.  He did find it odd that other witnesses 
said that they witnessed Gabriel kneeing the customer in the head and 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

13 
 

punching him in the face.  Mr. Hatcher said that Gabriel did not step up on the 
stage, he was down on the floor the entire time.  Mr. Hatcher was able to assist 
and get the handcuffs on the patron.  Mr. Hatcher did go outside to get his 
handcuffs and mentioned to law enforcement that Gabriel was amped up 
meaning that adrenalin was running high.  Mr. Hatcher did not remember telling 
law enforcement that he told Gabriel to back off, what he remembered was 
telling Gabriel that he would walk the patron out once the cuffs were on him.  
Mr. Hatcher said that he and Gabriel had to keep telling the other customer that 
was with the patron that was being handcuffed to step back.  When Mr. Hatcher 
was asked if the security officers received training on how not to get amped up, 
he said “for the most part, yes”.  Mr. Hatcher never saw the customer put his 
hands up in a defensive mode, ask the security officer to stop, or say that he 
wanted to leave.  Mr. Hatcher did not notice that the customer had any injuries.  
He handed the customer to a law enforcement officer and then went back into 
the establishment.  Mr. Hatcher said that prior to being security at 
Thunderstruck Valley, he was also bartender and security for Quincys and 
Charlie Dwellingtons. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Hatcher if it is common in his experience to become 
amped up in situation like that altercation.  Mr. Hatcher said yes.  He believes 
that the customer was also amped up because he was nose to nose with 
Gabriel and then shoved him.  The customer remained amped up while being 
handcuffed because he was kicking and trying to pull his head back to head 
butt anyone who was behind him.  Mr. Hatcher explained that the security 
officers do have training to keep from getting amped up but in the event of 
situations like that altercation, that is why there is extra security available to 
help out with a situation like that to keep everyone calm.  Mr. Hatcher had not 
had any interaction with the customer during the evening nor did he have any 
knowledge of the customer speaking to a manager regarding his buddy being 
kicked out.  Mr. Hatcher did not know who the law enforcement officer was that 
he gave the customer in handcuffs to.  There were no other security officers 
that assisted with the altercation except Gabriel and himself. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked how long it took to get the handcuffs on the customer after he 
arrived at the altercation.  Mr. Hatcher said almost immediately, Gabriel was 
able to hold the customer while Mr. Hatcher placed the handcuffs on him. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked if the first physical aggression Mr. Hatcher saw was the 
customer pushing or shoving at the security officer.  Mr. Hatcher said yes. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Hatcher to place a two on the diagram where 
he saw Mr. Cohen.  Hearing Officer Grattan circled number one where the 
altercation took place, circled number two where Mr. Cohen was stationed, and 
circled number three where Mr. Hatcher was stationed. 
 
City Attorney Shaver asked Mr. Hatcher where he is currently employed.  Mr. 
Hatcher said First United Oil Rig Company in Vernal, UT.  City Attorney Shaver 
asked if Mr. Hatcher has any affiliation whatsoever with Strategic Alliance 
Security or MZ Entertainment.  Mr. Hatcher said no. 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

14 
 

Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Officer David Godwin with the Grand 
Junction Police Department, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan.  
Officer Godwin testified that on August 10th, he responded to the location of 
Thunderstruck Valley on foot during bar crowd control around 1:00 a.m. along 
with a few other police officers.  At Thunderstruck Valley, he witnessed two or 
three security officers removing a customer but was unsure who actually had 
control of the customer.  Officer Keech took possession of the customer.  
Officer Godwin spoke with Gabriel Cohen, security officer, about what 
happened.  Mr. Cohen advised him that he had been struck in the throat by a 
punch but Officer Godwin did not observe any strike or red marks on his neck.  
Mr. Cohen’s face was kind of red, as if his blood was flowing but he did not 
appear to be in any pain.  He was amped up and appeared kind of nervous.  He 
noticed that Mr. Cohen had on fingerless gloves that have either plastic or 
Kevlar knuckles that are designed for protection while fighting.  As a police 
officer, they are prohibited to wear those types of gloves because they can be 
viewed as a weapon and they are threatening to look at.  Officer Godwin said 
that Mr. Cohen told him his side of the story as to what happened during the 
altercation which was while in the bar, a male approached him who appeared to 
be intoxicated and started talking about his buddy that apparently got thrown 
out, and they exchanged some words, and at some point a third male came and 
grabbed Mr. Cohen and the initial male he was speaking to struck him in the 
neck.  Mr. Cohen said he struck the male that had struck him.  Officer Godwin 
did not remember noticing any injuries or blood on Mr. Cohen’s hands.  The 
material of the gloves is smooth and could be wiped off but Officer Godwin 
could not be sure if they had been wiped off or not.  The two males in the 
altercation appeared to know one another. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Officer Godwin if he prepared a report on the incident.  
Officer Godwin said he did not because Officer Keech was the primary 
investigator, however, he has read the report that was prepared by Officer 
Keech.  Officer Godwin said he believes he was still talking to Mr. Cohen when 
the customer (Mr. Thompson) was examined by EMT’s and left in an 
ambulance.  No criminal charges were made regarding the incident.  Officer 
Godwin did not recollect interviewing anyone else regarding the incident. 
 
Ms. Merritt called her next witness, Officer David Keech, Patrol Officer, Grand 
Junction Police Department, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Officer Keech if he had been in law enforcement prior to 
working for the Grand Junction Police Department.  Officer Keech said no, prior 
to law enforcement, he worked in security, i.e., major events, shopping centers, 
malls, construction sites, and night clubs.  He studied martial arts and has 
taught it and has provided training in defensive arts and continues to study and 
train in defensive arts.  Working for the Grand Junction Police Department, he 
was taught FBI defensive tactics and was assigned to liquor licensing 
enforcement and training.  He has spoken to the liquor licensed establishments 
personnel about tactics, and best practices in ways to do their job better.  He 
has spoken to security personnel and management of Thunderstruck Valley 
several times.  On August 10th, they had an increased presence of Police 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

15 
 

Officers downtown starting at midnight.  He was called over to Thunderstruck 
Valley by security officer Gabriel Cohen who was leading out a customer (Mr. 
Thompson) in handcuffs with security officer Cory Hatcher nearby.  Security 
officer Cohen handed over Mr. Thompson to Officer Keech and told him that Mr. 
Thompson had assaulted him.  Officer Keech took Mr. Thompson to a park 
bench a little ways away from the venue and talked to him.  Mr. Thompson told 
Officer Keech that Mr. Cohen beat the crap out of him and that he was asked to 
leave the establishment by Mr. Cohen but refused because he wanted to find 
out the status of his friend.  Officer Keech did not see any injuries to Mr. 
Thompson’s hands but he did observe blood around his teeth in his lower jaw 
as if a tooth had possibly been knocked loose or he had bitten the inside of his 
mouth. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan called for a recess at 1:55 p.m. for the regular Liquor 
and Beer Meeting and stated that the hearing will resume at 2:45 or five 
minutes after the end of the regular meeting if it lasts past 2:45 p.m.   
 
The hearing resumed at 2:47 p.m.  
 
Hearing Officer Grattan advised that relevant to CRS 12-47-303, subsection 4 
and subsection 6, he found that there is no evidence of failure to truthfully 
disclose matters required pursuant to the application forms required by the 
Department of Revenue, and advised he will approve the temporary license to 
be converted into a permanent license. 

 
Ms. Merritt continued to question Officer Keech.  Officer Keech stated that he 
left Mr. Thompson in handcuffs because he was still very agitated until he was 
examined by paramedics and again noted that he did not see any injuries on his 
hands.  Officer Keech stated that after Mr. Thompson was taken away in an 
ambulance, he briefly spoke with Mr. Cohen.  He did observe that it appeared 
that he had red marks on his neck and his face was flushed.  Officer Keech said 
that if he had been struck in the chest with an open hand that moved up to the 
chest he would have had difficulty breathing and perhaps coughing a bit which 
Officer Keech did not observe.  Officer Keech advised that in a previous 
conversation with Mr. Cohen, he had advised Officer Keech that he had taught 
an Israeli Krav Maga Martial Arts class in New Castle.  Officer Keech advised 
that Mr. Cohen had told him that he was a hot head and Officer Keech has 
observed that he gets very emotional and upset very quickly.  He was very 
upset initially that night, but calmed down by the time he talked to him later on.  
Officer Keech advised that the touching with the open hand would fall under a 
very low level of physical harassment, an unwanted physical contact.  An 
appropriate reaction for that kind of contact would be to use a stiff arm to push a 
person away instead of striking a person.  The previous testimony indicating 
that Mr. Thompson received continued physical contact while down on the 
ground would be considered excessive.  The injuries Officer Keech observed on 
Mr. Thompson were not extensive enough to indicate that Mr. Cohen was 
acting inappropriately.  Officer Keech stated that it is his understanding that the 
security company is contracted by Thunderstruck Valley to provide security and 
Mr. Cohen is employed by the security company.  It would not be odd that a 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

16 
 

customer would approach a security officer to find out why someone was kicked 
out of the establishment.  Officer Keech advised that initially he investigated this 
matter for criminal assault charges because it appeared there was a fight and 
Mr. Cohen went beyond defending himself.  No charges were filed because if 
Mr. Cohen had used the physical force the Mr. Thompson said he did, Mr. 
Thompson would have had more severe injuries so he didn’t feel assault 
charges would have been warranted.  Officer Keech forwarded the case to 
Grand Junction Police Department PST Meghan Woodland for her to do follow 
up for liquor enforcement purposes.  Based on his training and experience, 
Officer Keech advised that once Mr. Cohen had Mr. Thompson on the ground, 
the kicking, punching, and striking should have stopped because Mr. Thompson 
was no longer a threat. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Officer Keech how Mr. Thompson showed signs of 
agitation which led to leaving handcuffs on him.  Officer Keech said that he was 
complaining about the security and how they assaulted and beat the crap out of 
him.  Officer Keech testified that Mr. Thompson had not specifically said who 
told him to leave the establishment but he did not leave because he wanted to 
find out more information about his friend.  Officer Keech said he was outside of 
Thunderstruck Valley for about an hour before Mr. Thompson was presented to 
him and during that hour, he did not witness anyone removed by force so he did 
not have knowledge of the friend who was kicked out.  Officer Keech’s 
conversation with Mr. Cohen occurred after Officer Godwin’s conversation with 
Mr. Cohen.  Even though Mr. Thompson requested medical attention, the 
paramedics did not feel that Mr. Thompson needed medical attention.  Officer 
Keech confirmed that Mr. Thompson requested being taken to the hospital in an 
ambulance because he wanted to get that guy in as much trouble as possible 
which in Mr. Thompson’s earlier testimony; he said he did not make that 
statement.  Officer Keech said that it is not uncommon for a patron to ask more 
than one person at an establishment about why something happened, i.e. Mr. 
Thompson asking both the manager and the security officer to get the answer 
that he wanted about his friend.  Officer Keech explained a project that he 
started in 2011 which was called the “POP” (problem oriented policing) project 
which eventually included all of the bars in the City.  Officer Keech said that 
putting Mr. Thompson in handcuffs was probably reasonable to detain him, 
however the testimonies stating Mr. Thompson was kicked and struck while on 
the ground was excessive.  Officer Keech said the entire process to detain Mr. 
Thompson should not have taken more than a minute.  Officer Keech spoke to 
Mr. Hatcher after Mr. Thompson was taken away.  Officer Keech said that he 
was told by Officer Godwin that the third person (Mr. Thompson’s friend) was a 
distraction to security officer Cohen and that is when Mr. Thompson punched 
Mr. Cohen. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Officer Keech if he was able to identify the third person (Mr. 
Thompson’s friend).  Officer Keech said he was never identified.  He stated that 
he does not remember speaking to management from Thunderstruck Valley 
regarding the incident.  Officer Keech said that Mr. and Mrs. Padilla testified 
that there were no strikes to Mr. Cohen by Mr. Thompson.  Officer Keech said 
that Mr. Kunz would be classified as an independent witness.  In his police 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

17 
 

report, Officer Keech identified the incident as a physical altercation, which 
would fall under a disturbance. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Officer Keech if he is familiar with the process of using the 
knee strike to the arm or shoulder to gain control to restrain someone.  Officer 
Keech said yes. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked if the knee strike would be best to use to restrain someone.  
Officer Keech advised that a knee strike would be best if deployed to the side of 
the body, ribs or thigh, to take the persons attention away from the arms. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked if Officer Keech agrees that Mr. Cohen was 
amped up and would he say that Mr. Thompson was intoxicated.  Officer Keech 
said yes to both questions, and stated some of the obvious signs of intoxication 
that he noticed in Mr. Thompson. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked if any testing was done to Mr. Thompson to determine 
level of intoxication.  Officer Keech said no. 
 
Mr. Volkmann called his first witness, Mark Aaron Towner, owner of MZ 
Entertainment, LLC, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Mr. Towner said that MZ Entertainment, LLC is a restaurant known as 
Thunderstruck Valley and does not own or have any other interest in any other 
liquor license.  Mr. Towner testified that Strategic Alliance Security was hired to 
provide security for Thunderstruck Valley approximately one week before they 
opened.  He said they came highly recommended by a friend of his in Colorado 
Springs who runs a club known as Copperhead Road.  It was his friend in 
Colorado Springs who advised Mr. Towner to use a third party trained security 
company because of the importance of proper security.  When they first 
opened, Mr. Towner hired a couple of people to act as all-purpose bouncers to 
keep the floors clean, bus, and help monitor the crowd.  Strategic Alliance had 
five or six security officers and MZ Entertainment had two or three at first.  
Approximately in mid-August, Strategic Alliance took over all of the security 
because they wanted to set a tone of zero tolerance for fighting.  Mr. Towner 
believes the incident on August 10th occurred prior to the change in security.  
The cost of security at Thunderstruck Valley is $11,000 to $12,000 per month.  
Mr. Towner believes that Mesa Theatre has recently hired Strategic Alliance for 
their security.  There are eight or nine security persons at Thunderstruck Valley 
on Friday and Saturday nights and he listed where they are all stationed.  The 
security at the gate refuse entry to anyone who appears intoxicated and the 
security at the door scan everyone’s identification and check for appearance 
again.  They ask people to leave every Friday and Saturday night for various 
reasons.  Mr. Towner said they do not allow fighting on the premises and take 
action anytime there is a fight.  Since the incident on August 10th, they now 
have put together an “86” list, beefed up the security, and installed cameras.  
Mr. Cohen, since that incident, is the security perched at the eagles nest to 
monitor the establishment. 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

18 
 

Ms. Merritt asked where Mr. Towner was located the evening in question.  Mr. 
Towner said he was out front.  Every Friday and Saturday evening, around 
11:00 p.m. he watches everyone who has been asked to leave and to talk to 
them so they don’t leave angry.  He also watches for anyone entering who 
appears to be intoxicated.  Mr. Towner said he did see Mr. Thompson being 
escorted out but did not speak to law enforcement regarding the incident. 
 
Mr. Volkmann called his next witness, Richard Keith Harris, Partner and 
Regional Manager for Strategic Alliance Security Company, who was sworn in 
by Hearing Officer Grattan. 
 
Mr. Volkmann asked Mr. Harris if he was familiar with providing security for 
Thunderstruck Valley and asked him who else they provide security for.  Mr. 
Harris replied affirmatively and said they also provide security to Intellitec 
College, the City of Colorado Springs, Sports Corp., 14 nightclubs across the 
State of Colorado, and others.  Mr. Harris testified that he teaches the basic 
officers security course, a 24 hour course that meets or exceeds the criteria set 
forth by the City of Colorado Springs.  He read an outline of course training and 
the document was submitted into the record as Exhibit F (see attached).  Mr. 
Harris stated that it is company policy that all their security officers are trained 
using that criteria to become certified before they can perform on the job.  
Strategic Alliance Security Company is certified to conduct the certified training.  
They teach a course called MOAB (Management of Aggressive Behavior) to all 
their security officers.  They teach a hand off course to help security know how 
to hand off an aggressive customer to another security officer.  They also teach 
a defense tactics for training on how to defend themselves, a PPCT (Pressure 
Point and Control Tactics), a four hour hand cuff course that goes along with 
the PPCT course, and a Dictate Program which is more along the line of joint 
locks.  Mr. Harris said he did review the circumstances involving the events of 
the altercation on August 10th because it is company policy to review the 
reports, start an investigation, contact persons involved, and try to put things 
together.  The review process happens regularly.  Both Mr. Cohen and Mr. 
Hatcher received all of the training and neither Mr. Cohen nor Mr. Hatcher who 
were involved in the altercation on August 10th have been disciplined or fired.  
The company has a force continuum that they use for a situation that requires 
force so that only the appropriate force is used to gain control of the situation.  
Mr. Harris advised that there are no agreements between Strategic Alliance and 
Thunderstruck Valley that allows or gives permission for fighting and there have 
been no more incidents that require review since the August 10th incident. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Harris if he was at Thunderstruck the night of August 10th.  
Mr. Harris said he was not.  Mr. Harris testified that Mr. Cohen has been 
exposed to the joint locks tactics training (Dictate Program) and it is a very long, 
ongoing process with many components before one can be certified.  Mr. Harris 
said that, based on his review, it is his understanding that Mr. Cohen felt that 
when he was struck, it was lethal force, and Mr. Cohen used the open palm 
strike to back the patron up to create space and place the patron in containment 
for the hand cuffs.  Mr. Harris said that the knee strikes were not to the head, 
they were to the shoulder.  Mr. Harris said there was an incident on August 30th 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

19 
 

where Mr. Cohen was assisting a female who was knocked out on the second 
floor near where the eagles nest is and was struck in the face and received a 
broken eye socket.  Mr. Harris said they have not had to review Mr. Cohen’s 
behavior having a hot temper.  Mr. Cohen was removed from having direct 
contact with customers only because it seemed an issue during the first 
meeting with Mr. Merritt and Ms. Woodland.  Mr. Harris said it is their policy 
when an incident begins to escalate to get more than one security officer on the 
scene. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Harris to describe the protocol if an officer is 
struck in an aggressive action in the neck by an intoxicated person.  Mr. Harris 
explained that they would find that to be a potential lethal force and would ask 
that person to leave and would look at an arm or hand lock to get the customer 
into position for compliance to get them out of the building.  If the customer was 
a potential danger, they would look at using handcuffs.  If the aggression was to 
a fight level, the security officer would go to less than lethal and so on to gain 
control of the customer.  A customer who is handcuffed should not be subject to 
additional force.  If there is more than one customer in a situation, it changes 
the force used to gain control.  When a customer is squirming or wriggling, they 
are resisting; if they are kicking, that is considered aggressive.  Analysis and 
reasonableness is part of the protocol and has to be made in lieu of the 
situation immediately. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked about the availability of time to continue the 
hearing for the room, the attorneys, Ms. Kemp, and City Attorney Shaver.  
Everyone was available except City Attorney, who would have to leave to 
prepare for another meeting at 5:00 p.m. and Mr. Volkmann, who would be 
available until 6:00 p.m.   
 
Hearing Officer Grattan called for a recess at 4:30 p.m.   
 
The hearing resumed at 4:36 p.m. 
 
City Attorney Shaver left the hearing. 
 
Mr. Volkmann called his next witness, Gabriel Alexander Cohen, employee of 
Strategic Alliance Security Company, who was sworn in by Hearing Officer 
Grattan. 
 
Mr. Cohen testified that he performs security services solely for Thunderstruck 
Valley.  Mr. Cohen explained that he is certified as a level three instructor in 
Krav Maga (close combat in Hebrew), a certified law enforcement Krav Maga 
instructor in weapons disarming, handcuffing through the United States Krav 
Maga Association.  Mr. Cohen stated that on August 10, 2014, he was a 
security officer at Thunderstruck Valley (and currently a security officer at 
Thunderstruck Valley) and observed Mr. Thompson and an unidentified friend 
talking (appeared to be almost harassing) to a manager (Ryan) after another 
friend of theirs was escorted out of the establishment.  Mr. Cohen approached 
Ryan to make sure everything was ok and after being told yes, he went back to 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

20 
 

his post against the wall by the stage on the first floor.  Mr. Cohen was given a 
diagram, Exhibit G (see attached), and asked to mark and place a number one 
where his post was and the altercation with Mr. Thompson began, a number 
two where interaction with the customers and Ryan took place, and a number 
four where the “eagles nest” is.  Mr. Cohen was standing next to the steps when 
Mr. Thompson and his friend approached him and stood on each side of him.  
Mr. Cohen described the friend whom he has not seen since.  Mr. Thompson 
asked Mr. Cohen why his friend was kicked out twice.  When Mr. Cohen replied 
that he nothing to do with that twice and referred Mr. Thompson to another 
manager towards the front at the bar.  When Mr. Thompson put his finger to Mr. 
Cohen’s chest asking again about his friend, Mr. Cohen advised Mr. Thompson 
that putting his hands on Mr. Cohen could be considered an assault and if he 
does not quit asking, he will be asked to leave.  Mr. Cohen stated that it 
appeared Mr. Thompson appeared close to being intoxicated.  Mr. Thompson 
put both hands up and told Mr. Cohen that he is not kicking him out and Mr. 
Cohen told Mr. Thompson that it is time to go.  Mr. Cohen turned towards Mr. 
Thompson and Mr. Thompson put his hands on Mr. Cohen’s chest.  Mr. Cohen 
reached around to Mr. Thompson to put his hand on Mr. Thompson’s shoulder 
to let him know it is time to go.  Mr. Thompson’s friend then placed his hand on 
Mr. Cohen’s shoulder and Mr. Cohen swatted the friends hand off of his 
shoulder and then felt Mr. Thompson’s hands on his neck and face to which Mr. 
Cohen turned and did a palm strike of the hand to Mr. Thompson’s face and he 
fell back on the stage on his back, lifted up his legs, and was kicking.  Mr. 
Cohen could hear Mr. Thompson’s friend getting closer, turned, and told him to 
get back and turned back to get ahold of Mr. Thompson’s legs.  Mr. Cohen put 
his knees up on the stage and attempted to get side control of Mr. Thompson, 
grabbed his wrists and rolled Mr. Thompson onto his stomach who continued to 
wiggle around.  Mr. Cohen started to put the handcuffs on Mr. Thompson but 
the handcuffs hit Mr. Thompson’s watch and did not clasp.  Mr. Cohen put 
handcuffs down, climbed up on the stage to get side control and used PPCT by 
kneeing Mr. Thompson in the shoulder to help gain control of him.  Mr. Cohen 
said he was “adrenalined up”.  He heard his coworker Cory, who came over on 
his own, say he got a handcuff on Mr. Thompson and told Mr. Cohen to get his 
other hand and Cory finished cuffing Mr. Thompson and starting walking him 
out.  Mr. Cohen had requested other patrons to leave Thunderstruck Valley a 
few dozen of times and had never ended up in that type of altercation and had 
placed other patrons twice in handcuffs prior without either of those incidents 
turning physical like with Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Cohen said he believes the whole 
altercation lasted under 30 seconds.  Mr. Cohen said he owns a pair of 
fingerless gloves with Kevlar on the knuckles, he had them with him that night, 
however, he did not have them on because there is a rule that does not allow 
them to be worn in the club.  He did put them on when he went outside when he 
was following Mr. Hatcher with Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Cohen only struck Mr. 
Thompson one time with his hand and maybe two knee strikes, but he never 
struck Mr. Thompson’s friend once during the altercation. 
 
Ms. Merritt asked Mr. Cohen if the friend that was with Mr. Thompson left when 
he was told to step back.  Mr. Cohen said he did not see him after he told him to 
step back.  Mr. Cohen testified that customers were all around in close 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

21 
 

proximity to where the altercation was.  Mr. Cohen said there conversation was 
normal voice level and maybe it did escalate when he was asking Mr. 
Thompson to leave.  Mr. Cohen was not surprised that customers did not hear 
him when he asked Mr. Thompson to leave because, overall, it was pretty loud 
in the establishment.  Mr. Cohen said that it is common for people to inquire 
why certain people get kicked out, but it is not common for those people to 
approach more than one manager/security officer to ask the same question.  
Mr. Cohen stated that he was pretty sure that the hand that went to his throat 
was Mr. Thompson’s and also stated that it may have slid up from his chest to 
the throat.  Mr. Cohen said he remembers talking to Officer Godwin outside of 
the establishment about marks to his throat, however, he did not remember 
saying that Officer Godwin may not see any marks.  Mr. Cohen testified that he 
did not hit or kick Mr. Thompson while he was on stage.  When the other 
security officer arrived (Mr. Hatcher), he told Mr. Cohen that he has handcuffs 
on one wrist of Mr. Thompson’s and asked Mr. Cohen to grab the other wrist.  
Mr. Cohen said he did not grab Mr. Thompson’s head at any time to gain 
control.  He also never heard Mr. Thompson say to stop and to say that he 
would leave.  Mr. Cohen said that immediately after the incident, he spoke with 
Police Officer Godwin and a female Police Officer, but did not speak with Police 
Officer Keech until later on and they shared stories about their experiences and 
training in security and also stated that he may have told Officer Keech that he 
is hot headed and can lose control on occasion.  Mr. Cohen stated that he was 
“amped up” during the altercation and clarified that it was because he was 
attacked by two men, his adrenaline was going, his faced was grabbed, and he 
struck a person.  Mr. Cohen said that being “amped up” is an adrenaline dump 
but being mad is losing self-control.  He couldn’t recall whether or not he told 
Officer Keech or Officer Godwin about Mr. Thompson poking him in the chest.  
Mr. Cohen said that he was not disciplined by his employer or Thunderstruck 
Valley for the incident, however, his position did change after a couple of weeks 
and he was up in the eagles nest for a while to be out of the spotlight.  It was 
more of a business move and not disciplinary.  Mr. Cohen was surprised to hear 
that three witnesses claim that he threw the first strike and continued to strike 
with no provocation from Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Cohen stated that he believes that 
he followed the continuum of procedures in handling Mr. Thompson. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Cohen how long the entire incident lasted 
with Mr. Thompson and his friend.  Mr. Cohen said that the conversation was 
about two minutes and the actual conversation and the confrontation was about 
30 seconds.  Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Cohen if he noticed any 
earrings on Mr. Thompson and at any point during their conversation, was he 
laughing with Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Cohen said he did not notice any earrings 
and he was not laughing with Mr. Thompson during their conversation; he may 
have given him a strange smile when Mr. Thompson asked him why his friend 
was kicked out and when Mr. Cohen replied with something like “Are you 
kidding me?”  Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Cohen if perhaps he accidently 
hit Mr. Thompson in the head when he was going for his shoulder with his knee 
and also asked him how many knee thrusts he used.  Mr. Cohen replied that, 
even though he doesn’t think he did, it could be possible that he accidently hit 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

22 
 

Mr. Thompson in the head even though he was aiming for the shoulder and he 
thinks maybe there were two or three knee thrusts to Mr. Thompson.      
 
There were no more witnesses. 
 
In closing argument of behalf of the City, Ms. Merritt said that the information 
provided during the hearing clearly shown that on August 10, 2014, there was a 
time that the business was not being orderly and it has been acknowledged by 
the licensee that there is a relationship between MZ Entertainment aka 
Thunderstruck Valley and Strategic Alliance Security.  It was not contested that 
there was a fight or disorderly conduct between Mr. Thompson and Mr. Cohen, 
the City questions whether or not there was a disturbance that was offensive to 
the average citizen.  Four people testified that it was; Mr. Thompson, Mr. 
Padilla, Mrs. Padilla, and Mr. Kunz.  None of the witnesses testified that Mr. 
Thompson made the strike or touch that brought on the punch or hand contact 
by Mr. Cohen to Mr. Thompson.  They had indicated that Mr. Thompson put his 
hands up and wanted no fight.  The witnesses did not appreciate the excessive 
use of force used by Mr. Cohen especially when Mr. Thompson was lying on 
the stage face down.  The witnesses testified that Mr. Thompson was not trying 
to kick or strike Mr. Cohen while lying down but Mr. Cohen kept on kicking, 
kneeing, and grabbing Mr. Thompson’s head and trying to knee him again.  The 
City is relying on the senses of the average citizens because that is what the 
law requires.  The question is why Mr. Cohen continued to strike Mr. Thompson 
after he was down on the ground as was testified by the witnesses and the 
witnesses being the average citizen.  The burden is not criminal, it’s the 
preponderance of evidence and she believed the City had met that burden.  
 
In closing argument on behalf of MZ Entertainment, LLC dba Thunderstruck 
Valley, Mr. Volkmann stated that being a security guard in a nightclub is a 
dangerous business.  Decisions have to be made instantaneously.  The 
testimony showed that Mr. Thompson went over to Mr. Cohen to look for an 
interaction after speaking with the manager (Ryan) who is the person who 
kicked out Mr. Thompson’s friend.  Mr. Thompson’s testimony totally conflicted 
with everything he had said before.  Ms. Padilla clearly spoke of other events 
when she stated she didn’t need the drama or the language.  Studies have 
shown that people recounting events that happened suddenly have difficulty 
with accuracy.  The event that took place is a circumstance that, by State 
Statute, the establishment would have knowingly allowed disorderly conduct or 
permitted the activity that was offensive to the public.  Mr. Volkmann said that 
he would suggest that what the Padilla’s saw when they said that Mr. 
Thompson was wrestling and grappling around would be offensive and 
inappropriate to them.  They saw the activity but they didn’t know what was 
going on.  The witness, Mr. Kunz, said he has been in Thunderstruck Valley 
before and after the altercation on August 10, 2104 which could suggest that 
the incident was not as offensive as he reported.  The recollection of the 
Padilla’s differed; on their exhibits, they indicated their location in different 
areas.  Ms. Padilla stated she could not see the entire altercation.  The injuries 
Mr. Thompson received did not support a heavy beating.  Mr. Volkmann stated 
that Thunderstruck Valley did not knowingly allow the altercation to happen; 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

23 
 

they took many steps to stop it.  Mr. Volkmann said that they do not see this as 
a liquor code violation and the disorderly conduct is not as broad as it appeared 
to be. 
 
Ms. Merritt rebutted that the extent of the injuries do not sustain whether or not 
the contact was made.  Mr. Cohen admitted he made contact.  All of the 
witnesses testified that Mr. Thompson’s friend was long gone from the 
altercation before Mr. Cohen struck Mr. Thompson which changed the fact 
pattern as to how Mr. Cohen should have responded.  The witnesses said that 
Mr. Thompson did not make contact with Mr. Cohen.  He raised his hands palm 
up indicating he did not want to fight.  The witnesses’ creditability was key in 
showing what was offensive to the average citizen.  The regulation reflects 
activities offensive to the average citizen; it does not say to the average security 
guard.  The witnesses said the continued striking, hitting, and kneeing were 
unnecessary.  The disorderly conduct was caused by Mr. Cohen. 
 
Hearing Officer Grattan asked Mr. Volkmann to provide the citation for the case 
law that Mr. Volkmann referred to earlier by noon on November 6, 2014.  Mr. 
Volkmann advised that he had the citation with him and provided a copy to 
Hearing Officer Grattan which he read the citations for Ms. Merritt.  He told Mr. 
Volkmann if he had any others, he can email them to him and copy Ms. Merritt 
by noon on November 6, 2014 (attached).  He provided Mr. Volkmann with his 
email address.  He asked Ms. Merritt to provide any response she may have by 
the end of the day on November 7, 2014 (attached).  Hearing Officer Grattan 
said that he understands Mr. Volkmann’s point in reference to witnesses Mr. 
and Mrs. Padilla and he said Mr. Thompson’s testimony did not make any 
sense and there were inconsistencies in his stories.  Mr. Cohen’s testimony 
made more sense.  
 
Hearing Officer Grattan advised that he will provide a written order (attached). 
 

III. ADJOURNMENT 
   
 The hearing was adjourned at 6:03 p.m. 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

24 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

25 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

26 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

27 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

28 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

29 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

30 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

31 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

32 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

33 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

34 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

35 
 

 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

36 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

37 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

38 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

39 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

40 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

41 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

42 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

43 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

44 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

45 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

46 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

47 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

48 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

49 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

50 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

51 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

52 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

53 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

54 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

55 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

56 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

57 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

58 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

59 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

60 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

61 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

62 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

63 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

64 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

65 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

66 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

67 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

68 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

69 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

70 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

71 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

72 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

73 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

74 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

75 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

76 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

77 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

78 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

79 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

80 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

81 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

82 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

83 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

84 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

85 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

86 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

87 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

88 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

89 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

90 
 



Liquor and Beer Meeting Minutes                                    November 5, 2015 Special Hearing 
 

91 
 

 


